Mahone Bay

The Regular Meeting of Town Council for the Town of Mahone Bay was held on
Thursday, September 25, 2025 at 7:00 p.m. in Council Chambers and broadcast via
YouTube live.

Present:

Mayor S. Lohnes-Croft

Deputy Mayor C. Kingsmill (remote)
Councillor P. Carver

Councillor J. Feeney

Councillor B. Palfreyman

Councillor R. Twanow

Councillor K. Wilson

CAOQ, D. Heide

Town Clerk, K. Munroe

Absent:
Online & 6 in-person gallery

Land Acknowledgement

Let us begin by acknowledging that we are gathered today in Mi'kma'ki. The ancestral,
present and future territory of the Mi'’kmaw people. Today, we gather with the intent
followed by the living Peace and Friendship Treaties - with respect, cooperation and
coexistence.

Call to Order

1. Agenda
A motion by Councillor Wilson, seconded by Councillor Carver, “THAT the agenda be

approved as amended to add 12.3 MGA 22(2)(c) Personnel Matters.” Motion carried.

2. Minutes
A motion by Councillor Carver, seconded by Councillor Wilson, “THAT the minutes of the
September 9, 2025 regular Council meeting be accepted as circulated.”

Motion carried.

3. Announcements by Council Members
Councillor Carver — Attended opening of 55+ Games. Officiated National Tree Day Event.
Faerie homes were vandalized but have since been repaired by volunteers.

2025-09-25_Meeting Minutes_Council



Councillor Feeney - Today is Municipal Joint Services Board COO Lesley McFarlane’s last
day with the organization.

Mayor Lohnes-Croft — Volunteered at Bonnie Lee Farm golf tournament. On Monday,
September 29t will be attending Provincial Volunteer Awards event with the Town's
2025 Representative Volunteer, Jenny Sandison.

4. Public Input Session
Marlin Risser, Kinburn Street — Spoke to concerns about resident and visitor pedestrian
safety as well as accessibility concerns.

Valerie Hearder — Concerns about surface and yellow line on new trail on Edgewater
Street.

Sue Bookchin — Concerns about surface of new trail on Edgewater Street.

Richard Nowe — Requesting to acquire a piece of Town owned land that abuts his
property.

5. Presentations
No presentations.

6. Correspondence
6.1 Linda Schneidereit

Council received a request from Linda Schneideriet to make an alteration to one of the
play structures at Tiny Tots Playground.

A motion by Councillor Carver, seconded by Councillor Feeney, “THAT Council direct
Staff to review the condition and accessibility of Tiny Tots Playground and report back
to Council.” Motion carried.

6.2 John Meisner, Chair, MICA

Council received correspondence from John Meisner, thanking them for the grant that
was provided to MICA (Mahone Islands Conservation Association) under the Town'’s
Grants to Organizations Program.

6.3 Heather Limpert
Council received correspondence from Heather Limpert, requesting that Council update
the current Dog Bylaw to include cats.

2025-09-25_Meeting Minutes_Council



6.4 Aren Morris, Fantastic Grown Up Book Fair
Council received a Grants to Organizations Application from Aren Morris, organizer of
the Fantastic Grown-Up Book Fair which will take place in Mahone Bay on October 11*".

6.5 Valerie Hearder
Council received a correspondence from Valerie Hearder with concerns about the plan
for surfacing on the Edgewater Street trail.

A motion by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Twanow, “THAT items 6.2 - 6.5
be received and filed.” Motion carried.

7. Staff Reports
7.1 Staff Report to Council — September 25, 2025
Council received the September 25, 2025 Staff Report to Council.

A motion by Councillor Wilson, seconded by Councillor Twanow, “THAT Council accept
the Staff Report to Council for information.” Motion carried.

7.2 Request for Decision Proposed Amendment to TOR for LCARADAC

Council received a Request for Decision from Gem Roberts, Regional Anti-Racism and
Diversity Coordinator, to amend the Terms of Reference for the Lunenburg County Anti-
Racism and Anti-Discrimination Advisory Committee to allow any member of the
committee to be Chair.

A motion by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Carver, “THAT Council
recommend the revision of the terms of reference of the Lunenburg County Anti-
Racism and Anti-Discrimination Advisory Committee, allowing the chair to be selected
from any member on the committee.” Motion carried.

7.3 Request for Appointments to LCAAC & LCARADAC

Council received a request from Gem Roberts, Regional Anti-Racism and Diversity
Coordinator and Ellen Johnson, Regional Accessibility Coordinator, for Council to make
appointments to the Lunenburg County Anti-Racism and Anti-Discrimination Advisory
Committee (LCARADAC) and the Lunenburg County Accessibility Advisory Committee
(LCAAC).

A motion by Councillor Carver, seconded by Councillor Wilson, “THAT Mahone Bay Town

Council support the appointment of Kelly Goudie to the Anti-Racism and Anti-

Discrimination Advisory Committee — for a one-year term ending March 31, 2026.”
Motion carried.

2025-09-25_Meeting Minutes_Council



A motion by Councillor Carver, seconded by Councillor Twanow, “THAT Mahone Bay
Town Council support the appointment of Linda Mills and Natasha Strickland and the
reappointment Teresa Alexander-Arab to the Lunenburg County Accessibility Advisory
Committee for a three-year term ending September 30, 2028.” Motion carried.

7.4 Staff Report —- HAF Update

Council received a staff report providing them with an update on Town of Mahone Bay
Housing initiatives as part of the Housing Accelerator Fund Agreement, as well as
associated recommendations for the expenditure of funds.

A motion by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Carver, “THAT Council waive all
Building, Planning and Development Fees as outlined in the Fees Policy: Schedule B for
affordable housing projects/development until March 31, 2029 and any loss of revenue
to the Town be offset by HAF Funds.” Motion carried.

A motion by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Twanow, “THAT Council approve
the Gemtech Soil & Groundwater Sampling Program proposal for the Town-owned
properties at the corner of Kinburn Street and Hawthorn Road at a cost of $9,500+HST,
to be funded by the Housing Accelerator Fund.” Motion carried.

A motion by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Wilson, “THAT Council agree to
provide the portion of the Kinburn Street and Hawthorn Road properties 60420544 and
60653417 designated as suitable for development as a result of the Soil & Groundwater
Sampling Program to the Mahone Bay Community Land Co-operative once Council has
been presented with and accepted a feasibility study for the development of the land
for Co-operative non-profit rental housing.” Motion Withdrawn.

Councillor Carver declared a conflict and abstained herself from the conversation on the
above motion.

Councillor Feeney made a Notice of Motion to bring the above motion to the next
regular meeting of Council.

A motion by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Carver, “THAT Council approve
the CBCL Raw Water Transmission Main Replacement & Municipal Servicing Proposal at
a cost of $134,600+HST, to be supported by $50,000 from the Housing Accelerator Fund
and remaining funds to be drawn from Capital Reserve/Canada Community Building
Fund (former Gas Tax Fund).” Motion carried.

2025-09-25_Meeting Minutes_Council



7.5 Staff Report — Municipal Boundaries
Council received a staff report providing them with a proposal for consideration
concerning the possibility of changing some Town boundaries.

A motion by Councillor Wilson, seconded by Councillor Carver, “THAT Council direct staff
to write to the District of Lunenburg proposing the boundary revisions detailed in the
staff report.” Motion carried.

7.6 Memo - Town Hall Sign
Council received a memo from staff requesting direction concerning placement and
design of a new Town Hall sign.

A motion by Councillor Wilson, seconded by Councillor Twanow, “THAT Council choose
the proposed historic font, that the words Town Hall be on one line and that the sign be
installed on the decorative banding located immediately above the front door.”

Motion carried.

7.7 Staff Report — Bank of Montreal Line of Credit
Council received a staff report providing them with an update on short-term borrowing,
necessary to finance capital projects.

A motion by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Wilson, “THAT Council approve
the draw on revolving facility (Facility #2), through the Bank of Montreal, ‘capital line’ in
the amount of $5,900,000, for capital purposes.” Motion carried.

8. Council Items

8.1 2025-26 MIP for the Regional Partnership Study Project

Staff explained the need for all five Lunenburg County Municipal Council's to adopt the
same motion.

A motion by Councillor Carver, seconded by Councillor Twanow, “THAT Mahone Bay
Town Council endorses an application for the 2025-26 Municipal Innovation Program
(MIP) for the Regional Economic Partnership Study project.” Motion carried.

8.2 Response Letter to Wagner Law

As requested by Council at their September 9, 2025 meeting, staff included a response
letter to Wagner Law, concerning the Kitch'inn Hospitality Group, written August 7,
2025, on the agenda.

2025-09-25_Meeting Minutes_Council



8.3 Heritage Property Hearing

Council held a Public Hearing to hear concerns from the owner of 430 Main Street
before considering making a recommendation to register the property as a Municipal
Heritage Property.

Deputy Mayor Kingsmill declared a conflict and abstained himself from the
conversation.

A motion by Councillor Wilson, seconded by Councillor Twanow, “THAT Council direct
staff to register the property located at 430 Main Steet as a Municipal Heritage
Property.” Motion carried.

8.4 Councillor Feeney — Audit and Finance Committee
Councillor Feeney had given Notice of Motion at Council's September 9, 2025 meeting
concerning an upcoming recommendation from the Audit and Finance Committee.

A motion by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Wilson, “THAT Council directs
the Audit and Finance Committee, on receipt of the report from the subcommittee
which was formed to review the Committee’s Terms of Reference, to bring forward for
Council's consideration, Terms of Reference for an Audit Committee as well as for a
separate Finance Committee.” Motion carried.

8.5 Councillor Carver — Edgewater Street Trail
Councillor Carver spoke to concerns she has heard in the community about the
Edgewater Street trail.

A motion by Councillor Carver, seconded by Councillor Palfreyman, “THAT Council direct
staff to consult with project engineers and to provide a report to the October 14"
meeting of Council as to options regarding the Edgewater trail that could a. Widen the
median to create an increased buffer from the roadway to the trail; and, b. Surface the
trail with a material other than asphalt such as crusher dust or concrete or to build a
boardwalk.” Motion carried.

9. Committee Reports

9.1 Lunenburg County Seniors’ Safety Program

Council received the August 2025 monthly report from the Lunenburg County Seniors’
Safety Program.

9.2 South Shore Open Doors Association
Council received the August 2025 monthly report from the South Shore Open Doors
Association.

2025-09-25_Meeting Minutes_Council



9.3 Lunenburg County Accessibility Advisory Committee
Council received the minutes from the May 7, 2025 meeting of the Lunenburg County
Accessibility Advisory Committee.

9.4 Climate and Environment Advisory Committee
Council received the draft minutes from the September 3, 2025 meeting of the Climate
and Environment Advisory Committee.

9.5 Planning Advisory Committee

Council received the draft minutes from the September 9, 2025 meeting of the Planning
Advisory Committee as well as a Planner’'s Report on amending the Town’s Land Use
Bylaw.

A motion by Councillor Wilson, seconded by Councillor Palfreyman, “THAT Council give
first reading to the Land Use Bylaw amendment to change the language in s 5.12
Coastal Elevation to exclude additions to existing structures from the required vertical
setbacks and direct staff to schedule a Public Hearing.” Motion carried.

A motion by Councillor Wilson, seconded by Councillor Carver, “THAT Council direct the
Planning Advisory Committee to review its Terms of Reference, in light of the new 2025-
29 Strategic Plan, and with consideration to the potential for the Planning Advisory
Committee to advise council on major capital infrastructure projects.”

Motion withdrawn.

9.6 Asset Management Committee
Council received the draft minutes from the September 18, 2025 meeting of the Asset
Management Committee.

A motion by Councillor Palfreyman, seconded by Councillor Carver, “THAT Council direct
staff to bring a report to Council on the process of obtaining any necessary permissions
for the re-damming of Oakland Lake for water supply purposes.” Motion carried.

10. New Business
A motion by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Carver, “THAT Council direct
staff to prepare a letter of thanks, under the Mayor's signature, to Leslie MacFarland for
her efforts as the COO of the Joint Services Board over the last three years.”

Motion carried.

11. Questions/Comments

2025-09-25_Meeting Minutes_Council



12. Closed Session
A motion by Councillor Wilson, at 8:39 p.m., seconded by Councillor Carver, “THAT
Council go into Closed Session to discuss Acquisition, Sale, Lease and Security of
Municipal Property, Personnel Matters and Contract Negotiations permitted in the
Municipal Government Act sections 22(2)(a), 22(2)(c) and 22(2)(e) respectively.”

Motion carried.

Council arose from Closed Session at 10:00 p.m.

13. Business arising from closed session

A motion by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Twanow, “THAT Council approve
the award of the Main Street public washrooms renovations contract to Kaulback
Building Ltd. for $365,646.13+HST.” Motion carried.

A motion by Councillor Wilson, seconded by Councillor Carver, “THAT Council approve
the award of the Town Hall entrance accessibility improvement to Whiting Concrete
Construction Ltd. for $25,544.83+HST.” Motion carried.
A motion by Councillor Wilson, seconded by Councillor Twanow, “THAT Council approve
CO8 ($25,515+HST) and CO9 ($35,890+HST) from Harbour Construction.”

Motion carried.

Council adjourned at 10:07 p.m. on conclusion of business.

TOWN OF MAHONE BAY TOWN OF MAHONE BAY

Mayor, Suzanne Lohnes-Croft Town Clerk, Kelly Munroe

2025-09-25_Meeting Minutes_Council



Kelly Munroe

From: Kelly.Munroe@TownofMahoneBay.ca
Subject: RE: Letter from CUPW | Canada Post Mandate Review

BY EMAIL AND MAIL

September 24, 2025

Mayor Suzanne Lohnes-Croft

Town of Mahone Bay

PO Box 530 493 Main St

Mahone Bay NS BOJ 2E0
suzanne.lohnes-croft@townofmahonebay.ca

Dear Mayor Lohnes-Croft,
Re: Upcoming Mandate Review of Canada Post Could Affect Jobs and Services in Your Community

I am writing you to let you know that the Federal Government is planning a mandate review of Canada Post from
October 2025 to March 2026. At this time, we do not have details regarding the format, process or terms of
reference. We are very concerned that there is no guarantee of public or stakeholder consultation (please see
enclosure).

| had written you earlier this year about the Industrial Inquiry Commission (lIC) launched to review negotiations
between Canada Post and our union. Unfortunately, it examined issues that were beyond collective bargaining
and made some recommendations for drastic service cuts. Notably, these were in the form of post office closures
and to resume conversion to community mailboxes — something the first Liberal Government after Harper was
elected to stop.

CUPW’s recommendations for expanded services, including things like postal banking, seniors check ins,
community hubs, the reinstatement of an improved Food Mail Program, were rejected as a means to immediately
address the financial challenges faced by Canada Post. This, despite the fact that many individuals,
municipalities and organizations have supported our efforts over the years.

Canada Post also used the IIC to set up its demands for regulatory changes that could form the basis of the
mandate review. We believe that regulatory changes should only be examined after Canada Post returns to
stabilized operations, the full impact of the January 2025 stamp price increase is realized, and when parcel
volumes reflect sectoral demand.

Canadians deserve to have their say on a public service they own. Our Federal Government must respect their
voice, their needs, their communities, including those in rural, remote and Northern locations, workers and their
rights, and safeguard public services and jobs — not try to quietly erode them.

| am asking your municipality to:
1) Pass aresolution asking for a delay on this mandate review,
2) Askthe Government to commit to a fully transparent, public process involving input and hearings from all
stakeholders in all regions, and;
3) Make a written and/or oral submission to the upcoming mandate review — if you have the capacity and
depending upon how the review is structured.



Should you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to reach out to me via Vanessa Murenzi at

vmurenzi@cupw-sttp.org
Thank you for your attention to this matter.

Sincerely,

Jan Simpson
National President
Canadian Union of Postal Workers

Encl.

PS - We are pleased to see some municipal-level pushback around the unilateral change in delivery practice for
the red flags on rural mailboxes. This has raised concerns, in particular for elderly residents and those with

mobility issues, who now have to go to their mailbox to check for mail.

c.c.:
National Executive Board
Regional Executive Committees
CUPW Locals
CUPW Specialists

/mlg cope 225



Appendix A

Canada Post Corporation Review

Notionally, public consultations may be undertaken to consider the Canadian Postal Service Charter (2009) and to
get a pulse on Canadians' needs and use of the postal service. Should engagement be necessary, the goal would
be obtain [sic] views from Canadians and stakeholders to redefine the government's service-oriented vision for
Canada Post, in a context where the postal industry landscape has changed, the needs of Canadians have
evolved, and the volume of mail and letters has declined significantly to the point where Canada Post's
sustainability has been undermined.

Source: Secretariat, Treasury Board of Canada. 2025. “Consulting with Canadians.” Canada.ca.
https://www.canada.ca/en/government/system/consultations/consultingcanadians.html. Accessed September
5, 2025. Search term “Canada Post Corporation Review”




Federal Government Plan: Canada Post Corporation Review

WHEREAS the Federal Government has announced a planned Canada Post Corporation Review
from October 1, 2025 to March 31, 2026 as follows:

Notionally, public consultations may be undertaken to consider the Canadian Postal
Service Charter (2009) and to get a pulse on Canadians' needs and use of the postal service.
Should engagement be necessary, the goal would be obtain [sic] views from Canadians and
stakeholders to redefine the government's service-oriented vision for Canada Post, in a
context where the postal industry landscape has changed, the needs of Canadians have
evolved, and the volume of mail and letters has declined significantly to the point where
Canada Post's sustainability has been undermined.’

WHEREAS the current plan does not ensure that there will be any public consultation or
engagement with all stakeholders, and the process and terms of reference for the mandate review
have yet to be announced.

WHEREAS the recent Industrial Inquiry Commission report recommended service cuts in the form
of post office closures and the reintroduction of the community mailbox conversion plans of the
last Federal Conservative government.

WHEREAS it will be crucial for the mandate review to hear the views from municipalities on key
issues, including maintaining Canada Post as a public service, the importance of maintaining the
moratorium on post office closures, improving the Canadian Postal Service Charter, home mail
delivery, parcel delivery, keeping daily delivery, improving postal banking, greening Canada Post, EV
charging stations, food delivery, improving delivery to rural, remote and Indigenous communities,
and developing services to assist people with disabilities and help older Canadians to remainin
their homes for as long as possible — and at the same time, helping to ensure that good jobs stay in
their communities and that Canada Post can remain financially self-sustaining.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that (hame of municipality) formally writes the Minister of
Government Transformation, Public Works and Procurement, Joél Lightbound, to demand that no
mandate review takes place until Canada Post returns to stabilized operations, until the fullimpact
of the stamp price increase is realized, and until parcel volumes reflect sectoral demand.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that (hname of municipality) will include in its letter to Minister
Lightbound that any review of Canada Post and the Canadian Postal Service Charter must be done
through a full and thorough transparent public review of Canada Post, including public hearings,
with all key stakeholders, in every region of Canada.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that (name of municipality) will make a written submission and/or
participate in hearings to provide input in the upcoming mandate review of Canada Post.

1 Secretariat, Treasury Board of Canada. 2025. “Consulting with Canadians.” Canada.ca.
https://www.canada.ca/en/government/system/consultations/consultingcanadians.html. Accessed
September 5, 2025. Search term “Canada Post Corporation Review”


https://www.canada.ca/en/government/system/consultations/consultingcanadians.html

MAILING INFORMATION

1) Please send your resolution to the Minster responsible for Canada Post, and your Member of
Parliament:

e Joél Lightbound, Federal Minister of Government Transformation, Public Works and
Procurement, House of Commons, Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0A6
e Your Member of Parliament

Note: Mail may be sent postage-free to any member of Parliament. You can get your MP’s name,
phone number and address by going to the Parliament of Canada website at
https://www.ourcommons.ca/Members/en

2) Please send copies of your resolution to:

e Jan Simpson, President, Canadian Union of Postal Workers, 377 Bank Street, Ottawa,
Ontario, K2P 1Y3

e Rebecca Bligh, President, Federation of Canadian Municipalities, 24 Clarence St, Ottawa,
Ontario, KIN 5P3

Canadian Union of Postal Workers The siruggle confinues CLC/CTC - FTQ - UNI
Syndicat des travailleurs et travailleuses des postes La lutte continue e G



https://www.ourcommons.ca/Members/en

Kelly Munroe

From: Kelly.Munroe@TownofMahoneBay.ca
Subject: FW: Edgewater Landscaping

Dear Mayor and Council

Many of us are very excited about the Edgewater Project and how it will improve our Town for the years to
come both from infrastructure improvement and a scenic beauty perspectives. | must admit that
although | am excited to see this project completed, | am very disappointed that the landscaping of the
trail will be a big miss for our town if we do not make some adjustments and request Council to consider
to do so.

My concern is the area of the recreational trail from the 3 Churches parking lots out to Keddy’s Landing.
There is very little distance between the highway and the trail which will result in traffic being very close
to pedestrians. With that small separation, | fear the noise of vehicles will diminish the peaceful walks
along the waterfront and may be a safety concern for children, seniors, pets and walkers and cyclists in
general. | am sure the minimum distance is legal but maybe we should strive for more than doing just the
minimum. The video on line also shows that when you come into Town, probably one of the most scenic
entrances to any town, we will now have a vast expanse of pavement or hard surface with both the
highway and the trails so close together. | am also disappointed that we are not fully supporting the
improvement of our tree canopy project of which we are a participant and fully supported on Pleasant
Street. The video shows random trees planted into the armored sea wall. With a few adjustments, we
have a tremendous opportunity to make that part of the trail much more attractive and welcoming to
both residents and visitors, safer, enjoyable and easier to maintain.

My personal belief is that the trail should be pushed over as far as possible to the edge of the armored
sea wall. We should keep the post and ropes and eliminate the small grass area between the trail and
the sea wall which will also reduce maintenance by eliminating grass trimming. This will allow us to
widen the green area between the highway and the trail and give us a place to plant some majestic trees
(maples, oaks) that in time will frame the entrance to our Town and provide shade for pedestrians. |
would recommend all of the trees be the same species for aesthetics. The trees will also provide a safety
and calming barrier from the traffic. The wider green area may also give us some room for a few benches
and maybe some scarecrows. Aesthetics is very important to a quality residential town especially when
tourism is such a large part of our commercial activities. Our participation and support of the
Communities In Bloom program and this great opportunity beckons us to do better. Thank you for
listening to my concerns and suggestions.

Respectfully submitted,
Jeff Frampton

33 Pleasant Street
Mahone Bay



town oF 1 YA
October 14, 2025
Mahone Bay o

Aik Staff Report to Council

This Report to Council is intended to provide the Mahone Bay Town Council with a high-

level summary of staff progress toward Council’'s direction to staff. As per the Town
Council Policy, the report will be provided at each regular meeting of Council.

1. Prepare a report on RELC's request to provide terms and the proposal for new
electrical commission. The report to include staff recormmendations and
proposing terms and conditions of the proposed loan.

Date Assigned: October 8, 2024
Expected Completion: November 2025
Percent of Completion: 90%

2. Develop a grant program to Mahone Bay recreation and cultural organizations
that will support participation of children and youth who may not be able to
participate due to lack of funds.

Date Assigned: March 11, 2025
Expected Completion: December 2025
Percent of Completion: 75%

3. Prepare a response letter to Mr. Dupuis, answering his questions.

Date Assigned: July 31, 2025
Expected Completion: October 2025
Percent of Completion: Completed.

4. Bring any needed change orders from Harbour Construction in relation to the
Edgewater Street Landscaping Plan for Council’'s consideration.

Date Assigned: August 15, 2025
Expected Completion: October 2025
Percent of Completion: 75%




5. Apply to the Nova Scotia Energy Board to recover deferred electrical utility revenue
from the Town's previous General Rate Application in the amount of $173,163.

Date Assigned: August 15, 2025
Expected Completion: October 2025
Percent of Completion: 50%

6. Seek feedback from the public on design of fishing dock and report back to Council
on potential upgrades for spring 2026-27.

Date Assigned: September 9, 2025
Expected Completion: January 2026
Percent of Completion: Not yet begun

7. Draft a new Streets and Sidewalks Bylaw for consideration.

Date Assigned: September 9, 2025
Expected Completion: October 2025
Percent of Completion: 50%

8. Draft a new Seasonal Sales Area Bylaw.

Date Assigned: September 9, 2025
Expected Completion: October 2025
Percent of Completion: 25%

9. Review the condition of Tiny Tots Playground and report back to Council.

Date Assigned: September 25, 2025
Expected Completion: January 2026
Percent of Completion: Not yet begun.

10. Write to the Municipality of the District of Lunenburg proposing the boundary
revisions detailed in the Staff Report.

Date Assigned: September 25, 2025
Expected Completion: October 2025
Percent of Completion: 50%




11. Register the property located at 430 Main Street as a Municipal Heritage Property.

Date Assigned: September 25, 2025
Expected Completion: November 2025
Percent of Completion: 25%

12. Consult with project engineers and to provide a report to the October 14t meeting of
Council for options that could a. Widen the median to create an increased buffer from
roadway to the trail; and b. Surface the trail with a material other than asphalt such as
crusher dust, concrete or wooden boardwalk.

Date Assigned: September 25, 2025
Expected Completion: October 2025
Percent of Completion: Completed.

13. Bring a report to Council on the process of obtaining any necessary permissions for
the re-damming of Oakland Lake for water supply purposes.

Date Assigned: September 25, 2025
Expected Completion: November 2025
Percent of Completion: 25%




A
TOWN OF ‘ Town of Mahone Bay
/ha/wfw l3 Staff Report
ay RE: Hedge Row
March 12,2024

General Overview:

This staff report is intended to present Council with a recommendation
concerning Hedge Row.

Background:

The newly adopted Municipal Planning Strategy and Land Use By-law will
likely impact traffic on Hedge Row.

Hedge Row

Anticipated Impacts:

a. Zoning changes on Hedge Row - from Residential to Multi-Unit
Residential — are likely to result in additional traffic flow should
currently vacant properties fronting on Hedge Row be developed.

b. Recent reductions in off-street parking requirements for commercial
properties in the downtown core will increase demand for public
parking, including on Town streets.



Analysis:

It is the responsibility of the Traffic Authority of the Town to offer

recommendations to Council on such occasions, as such the following
recommendation is presented:

Recommendation: Make Hedge Row One-Way between Pleasant and Maple

-

-
<)
3

‘b) C\,\‘“‘Q“\ Mahone Bay
3’5 Trading Comipany
7 Shoe store
y s
_ BT
_ Ve

15 puod

Just Like Mom's
Bed & Breakfast

0%

Royal Canadian
Legion Branch 49

O
<?

Jubilee F‘amo

Due to the narrowness of the paved surface and close proximity of structures,

etc. it is recommended that Hedge Row become One-Way between Pleasant
Street and Maple Street as depicted above.



Additionally, it should be noted that staff will be signing narrow streets /
streets with limited shoulders in the downtown core — such as Hedge Row —
as No Parking, in consideration of the anticipated MPS/LUB impact on public
parking as referenced above.

Financial Analysis:

Signage / painting costs associated with the change to One-Way are
anticipated to be minimal.

Climate Analysis:
N/A

Strategic Plan:
N/A

Recommendation:
It is recommended,

THAT Council direct staff to make Hedge Row One-Way from Pleasant
Street to Maple Street.

Respectfully Submitted,

/ ~

Llr izl —— —

bylan Heide
Town of Mahone Bay CAO



Town of Mahone Bay

TOWNOF # Staff Report

Mahone Bay RE: Edgewater Multiuse Trail

October 14, 2025

General Overview:

This staff report is intended to provide Council with requested information
concerning design options for the multi-use (pedestrian and bicycle) trail
component of the Edgewater Street project.

Background:
At the regular meeting of Council on September 25, 2025 Council passed the
following motion:

“THAT Council direct staff to consult with project engineers and to
provide a report to the October 14" meeting of Council as to options
regarding the Edgewater trail that could a. Widen the median to create
an increased buffer from the roadway to the trail; and, b. Surface the
trail with a material other than asphalt such as crusher dust or concrete
or to build a boardwalk.”

Analysis:

a. Widen the median to create an increased buffer from the roadway
to the trail

Project engineers CBCL provide the following:

The 1m trail separation from the roadway in the current design is
standard but would not be considered a minimum per Provincial
specifications accessible at:
https://novascotia.ca/tran/publications/asphalt/Standard-Specification-
Manual-2025.pdf.

The main design element for safety is the grade separation from the
curb and not the specific distance between the shoulder and the trail. It
is common to design 300mm separation from road to trail with curb in-
between, and many sidewalks are directly adjacent to the road with no
separation and just a curb to provide vertical separation.

For reference the topsoil area on the seaward side of the trail is 0.8m
wide. Reducing this would present a couple of complications including:



Safety: You would be removing the seaward buffer and bringing the
seaward grade change closer to trail users. This area is also required for
the installation of the seaward barrier (i.e. Post and rope, handrail or
potential future seawall) and reducing it would make the installation of
the barrier difficult if not impossible.

Constructability: In addition to the comment on the post install above
you can see in the detail below that the gravel base of the trail is wider
that the asphalt and even with the buffer we left for the post install the
gravel base is very close to the rock embankment. If we moved the
asphalt trail structure over it would end up overlapping the rock
embankment and compromising the integrity of the trail.

3800

| 3000
S —— TOPSOIL AND SOD 150mm

150mm TYPE 1 GRAVEL 1500 50—250mm C1 CLEAR STONE 1
200mm TYPE 2 GRAVEL—_ 7 BACKFILL VOIDS OF CLEAR STO
\ TRAIL STONE WITH GROWING MEDIUM

TOP TRAIL AND RQ

R2 RIP RAP
1000 THICK MINIMUM
PLACE ON EXISTING GRA

NON—-WOVEN GEOTEXTILE

Moving the trail to support a greater separation presents many
complications, as the sea floor will not support the weight of infill. CBCL
completed geotechnical investigations on this material, and it does not
have the structural integrity to support the weight of the shoreline
protection and would need to be removed and replaced in order to
achieve your suggested separation. This would likely add millions of
dollars to the project construction, not to mention additional
permitting obstacles. We would likely need to obtain a new permit
fromm DFO which is not realistic at this stage of the project and not likely
to be approved in any case.

Lastly, Harbour Construction has to date completed approximately 50%
of the shoreline work and made good headway. Harbour would need to
remove all of the rock placed to date to build the trail out further, at
substantial additional cost to the Town.



b. Surface the trail with a material other than asphalt such as crusher
dust or concrete or to build a boardwalk

Project engineers CBCL provide the following:

A good reference for accessibility is CSA B651 - Accessible design for
the built environment.

o CSA B651 requires that accessible routes and exterior paths of
travel have a surface that is:
= firm, stable, and slip-resistant
= continuous and even (no loose material, deep joints, or
abrupt level changes)

o Crusher dust by itself does not reliably meet these requirements
because:

= |tisloose and can shift under wheels or canes.

= |t erodes with rain and can form ruts.

= |t's not considered “firm and stable” and extra measures

need to be taken such as:

e Binding with a stabilizer or cementitious material.
o Close attention to the grading and fine mixture
e Proper compaction and maintenance procedures.

o In addition to accessibility considerations, in terms of active
transportation asphalt or concrete are generally considered
better running and cycling surfaces than crusher dust.

o There would likely be some savings, but the extra stabilizer
required (and specific fines content) may limit sourcing and may
not yield a huge saving.

The new Nova Scotia Accessibility Act Built Environment Accessibility
Standards requirements are generally reflective of the cited CSA
standard, including (particular to the matter of trail surfaces):

5(1)(2) A barrier-free path of travel that is required by these
regulations must meet all of the following requirements:

(d) it must be stable, firm and slip-resistant; and,
(h) it must have drainage that prevents the accumulation of
ice and water;

Staff have additionally consulted with other local public works
departments, Lunenburg County Accessibility Coordinator Ellen



Johnson, and Kristen Habermehl (Atlantic Accessibility Consulting) who
completed the Town's recreational facility accessibility audits. All
confirmed that they would not consider crusher dust as an all-season
accessible surface under the new Provincial standards, though
concrete would present an accessible alternative to asphalt).

Maintenance considerations with crusher dust (and associated
increased life cycle costs), particularly in a waterfront environment and
for all-season use, were particularly cited. Public Works has concerns
regarding the winter maintenance of the trail if a crusher dust surface
were selected. Salt would be used on an asphalt or concrete surface but
not with crusher dust (the Town generally does not utilize sand except
in isolated areas) and snowblowing would be a preferred option with
asphalt and concrete — on which we have been planning - but would
not be possible with crusher dust. Due to the nature of the material
crusher dust would present a safety hazard during winter months,
where there is no alternative path of travel (bike lanes or sidewalk).

Accessibility specialists further highlighted the better tactile and visual
distinction of the travel area with asphalt or concrete over crusher dust,
further noting the potential for tactile indicators to be added with
asphalt or concrete but not crusher dust.

Financial Analysis:

According to project engineers CBCL, based on current unit rates for the
project, potential upfront savings with a crusher dust surface could be
estimated at ~$152,000 while potential increased upfront costs for a concrete
surface could be estimated at $1,750,000. Lifecycle costs would be
significantly higher with crusher dust.

Project Funding
The 2016 Flood Prevention and Shoreline Enhancement Plan from CBCL

which included the pre-design for the shoreline and trail components of the
Edgewater Project recommended asphalt surface for the trail. When staff
began seeking external funding for the project, applications reflected this
design (in particular the Federal Active Transportation Fund ($893,522) and
Provincial Connect2 Program ($58,000) contributions, which were successful).

Staff have confirmed with external funders that if the trail surface design
were changed the Town would still receive the awarded funded up to the
reduced capital cost of the crusher dust surface versus the planned asphalt
surface. As a consequence, only ~20% of upfront cost-savings associated with
crusher dust would accrue to the Town, though 100% of increased
maintenance costs would be the responsibility of the Town.



Recommendation:
It is recommended,

“THAT Council accept this report for information.”

Respectfully Submitted,

[ 4 .
yave T
bt

Dyfé'n Heide
Town of Mahone Bay CAO



Lunenburg County

SENIORS” Lunenburg County Seniors’ Safety Program

Safety Program M
= onthly Report —-September 2025
; Prepared: October 02, 2025

The LCSSP is a free confidential community-based non-profit service that works collaboratively with BPS,
RCMP, and many community partners to help address the safety concerns of older adults (55 years of age+),
residing in Lunenburg County. Service is provided through awareness campaigns, advocacy, community
outreach projects, educational programs, community presentations and one to one service.

LCSSP September highlights:

e Geo Nova Scotia is an organization that provides phones with a year plan for those in need.
Lunenburg Senior Safety is being reviewed by the program as a possible community partner to
this program as a conduit of delivery of this resource to seniors in need.

e The United Way of the Maritimes Expression of Interest Funding Application has been
accepted with the invitation to submit a funding request application by October 10th.

e There’s been an increase this summer in the volume of referrals with a higher degree of
complex situations. The current Postal Strike has impacted the ability for older adults to apply
for/receive certain funding and benefits such as the Seniors Care Grant.

e Sept. 8 -12 Training through Open Mind/MHCCs: Train the Trainer — Mental Health First Aid for
Supporting Older Adults Train the Trainer has been Completed. Thank you to Aging Well NS
for inviting/funding my participation. | look forward to teaming up with the other facilitators in
bringing this resource to our communities. This is the first time this has been available in Nova
Scotia. We will be able to present this certification virtually and in person.

e A Reminder that due to the high volume of need for one-on-one support the Seniors’ Safety
Academy has been postponed for the fall. Looking forward to planning an event in the spring.

e Please follow the link for important information on intimate partner violence.
https://www.bridgewaterpolice.ca/services/intimate-partner-violence

e Follow this link for LCSS resources on Mental Wellness in older adults
https://www.bridgewaterpolice.ca/services/special-services/seniors-safety-learning-resources

e Collaborative client specific meetings with Western Region Housing Authority, RCMP, CCC,
Adult Protection and SSODA.

e Collaborations for clients also include SSODA, WRHA, RCMP, SSRH, MLA offices, BPS, Continuing
Care.

#

> 4 1
AU NENBURG] Mahone Bay

VR,
A

W% ) A v
&/ own o) ) B
R @ BRIDGEWATER I Unitcd oy ' NOVASCOTIA Caxapa

enburg Count; HE MUNICIPALITY OF
ver CHESTER

Improving Lives Locally



https://www.bridgewaterpolice.ca/services/intimate-partner-violence
https://www.bridgewaterpolice.ca/services/special-services/seniors-safety-learning-resources

ARy,
N
T

POLICE

Lunenburg County

SENIORS” Lunenburg County Seniors’ Safety Program

Safety Program M
= onthly Report —-September 2025
; Prepared: October 02, 2025

e Collaborative visits with BPS, RCMP and Continuing Care.

Do to the volume of referrals Clients’ needs are being triaged. Initial contact from LCSSP to client
occurs within 48hrs upon receipt of referral to help accurately facilitate this process. This reflects in
the having the ability/time to review files for possible appropriate closing.

Referrals:
New Referrals: 9 + Re Referrals:2 Home/site Visits: 19 Active clients: 89 Closed files: 13

New Referrals Service Area in Municipal Units (#’s have been rounded either | %
up/down)

MODC 27%
MODL 45%
Mahone Bay .5%
Lunenburg .5%
Bridgewater 27%

Referral Source:
Community Partner 18% Self/Family 27% RCMP 36% BSP 19% AP 0%

Areas of concern remain unchanged: Safe/affordable/accessible Housing, Seniors’ Mental
Health/Addictions, Adult Protection, Hoarding, Scams/Fraud, Cost of living, Community
resources/connections, Health Care (no primary care physician). LCSSP is seeing an increase of complex
issues and concerns at the time of referrals/intakes. This translates into clients being active clients longer
and collaboration with multiple disciplinaries.

LCSSP Client Emergency Contingency Fund (CECF):

The CECF continues to serve the community in partnership with other organizations to help mitigate
risk for seniors experiencing financial hardship. The end of September balance $371.44: 540 Gas Card
for client.

‘Thank you to all Lunenburg County Seniors’ Safety Program supporters.
We couldn’t do what we do without you.’

P o
2 United Way A NOVA® S&)TIA CANADA

nenburg Count; S SR
e CHESTER

1 town of
@ BRIDGEWATER

Improving Lives Locally

> .
L Ll Mahone Bay



?" | Date: October 14, 2025
Mah()ne Bay RE: Certified Specialist Salary Scale

General Overview:
The purpose of this staff report is to request Council approve the addition of a salary
scale to the current Town of Mahone Bay Salary Schedule.

Background:

The Town currently has a set of salary schedule as a guide for the compensation of
staff. This schedule was created as part of the development of the Human Resource
Policy Manual.

Analysis:

Council approved the addition of an Accountant position as part of the 2025-2026
budget. The recruitment for this position has yet to be successful after several
recruitment attempts. It was suggested by a recruiter that the salary offered was
not competitive in the current market and that may be a primary impediment to
this recruitment. In conducting further research at the staff level, it was confirmed
that the salary being offered is not fair market value.

As such, staff are recommending that Council approve the “Certified Specialist”
salary scale. This salary scale would be reserved for those positions outside of
management that require a professional designation or a specialized education to
fit the criteria and technical skill for the position.

Financial Analysis:

See attached Salary Schedule with proposed Certified Specialist salary scale
highlighted.

Climate Analysis:
There are no anticipated climate implications.

Links to Strategic Plan:
Pillar 2: Responsible Financial Stewardship

Recommendation:
It is recommended,

THAT Council approve the addition of the “Certified Specialist” salary scale to
the Town of Mahone Bay salary schedule.

Respectfully submitted,
Eric J. Levy
Deputy CAO



Salary Scale - Town of Mahone Bay

Step1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step5 Step 6 Step 7 Step 8 Step 9 Step 10 Step 11
CAO 124,702.86 127,474.03 130,245.21 133,016.38 135,787.56 138,558.73 143,408.29 146,525.86 149,643.43 152,761.00 155,878.57
Management 102,436.35 104,712.71 106,989.08 109,265.44 111,541.80 113,818.17 117,801.80 120,362.71 122,923.62 125,484.53 128,045.44
Power Line Tech 89,483.28 91,720.36 94,013.37 96,363.70 98,772.79 101,242.11 103,773.17 106,367.50 109,026.68 111,752.35 114,546.16
Certified Specialist 86,399.02 88,559.00 90,718.97 92,878.95 95,038.92 97,198.90 99,358.87 101,518.85 103,678.82 105,838.80 107,998.78
Specialist 64,577.70 66,192.14 67,806.58 69,421.03 71,035.47 72,649.91 74,264.35 75,878.80 77,493.24 79,107.68 80,722.12
P 64,702.46 64,077.58 65,640.45 67,203.32 68,766.18 70,329.05 71,891.92 73,454.79 75,017.65 76,580.52 78,143.39
Lead 61,025.37 62,551.00 64,076.64 65,602.27 67,127.91 68,653.54 70,179.18 71,704.81 73,230.44 74,756.08 76,281.71
Individual Contributor 48,250.29 49,456.54 50,662.80 51,869.06 53,075.31 54,281.57 55,487.83 56,694.09 57,900.34 59,106.60 60,312.86
Salary Scale after CPI - Water Utility

Management 102,436.35 104,712.71 106,989.08 109,265.44 111,541.80 113,818.17 117,801.80 120,362.71 122,923.62 125,484.53 128,045.44
Specialist 64,577.70 66,192.14 67,806.58 69,421.03 71,035.47 72,649.91 74,264.35 75,878.80 77,493.24 79,107.68 80,722.12

Salary Scale after CPI - Electric Utility
Management 102,436.35 104,712.71 106,989.08 109,265.44 111,541.80 113,818.17 117,801.80 120,362.71 122,923.62 125,484.53 128,045.44
Power Line Tech 89,483.28 91,720.36 94,013.37 96,363.70 98,772.79 101,242.11 103,773.17 106,367.50 109,026.68 111,752.35 114,546.16







-
aln

\
TowN oF £ g
Mahone Bay

A meeting of the Policy & Strategy Committee for the Town of Mahone Bay was held on
Monday, September 22, 2025 at 7:07 p.m. in Council Chambers.

Present:

Mayor Suzanne Lohnes-Croft

Deputy Mayor Colin Kingsmill (remote)
Councillor Joseph Feeney

Councillor Rebecca Twanow
Councillor Penny Carver

Councillor Kelly Wilson

CAOQ, Dylan Heide

Deputy CAOQ, Eric Levy

Absent:
Councillor Bryan Palfreyman (regrets)

Let us begin by acknowledging that we are gathered today in Mi'lkma'ki. The ancestral,
present and future territory of the Mi'’kmaw people. Today, we gather with the intent
followed by the living Peace and Friendship Treaties - with respect, cooperation and
coexistence.

1. Approval of Agenda
A motion by Councillor Carver, seconded by Councillor Wilson, “THAT the agenda be
approved as circulated.” Motion carried.

2. Approval of Minutes
A motion by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Twanow, “THAT the minutes
from July 28, 2025 be approved as circulated.” Motion carried.

3. Agenda Items

3.1 Donations Policy

The Committee reviewed a proposed, updated Donations Policy. Minor amendments of
the draft policy were discussed.

A motion made by Councillor Feeney, seconded by Councillor Wilson, “THAT the
Committee recommend that Council adopt the Donations Policy as amended.”



3.2 Facilities Booking Policy
The Committee discussed potential amendments to the Facilities Booking Policy to
inform the development of a draft amended policy by staff.

3.3 Pleasant Street on Halloween
The Committee discussed the potential use of Pleasant Street on Halloween and
opportunities for temporary traffic calming while trick or treating is taking place.

3.4 Equipment Charges Bylaw discussion
The Committee discussed items to include in a draft Equipment Charges Bylaw to
inform the development of the draft bylaw by staff.

3.5 Capital Infrastructure Bylaw
The Committee discussed items to include in a draft Capital Infrastructure Bylaw to
inform the development of the draft bylaw by staff.

4.0 Next Meeting

4.1 Date and Time

The next regular meeting of that Policy and Strategy Committee will be held at 7:.00pm
on Monday, October 27, 2025.

4.2 Agenda items for next meeting
To be determined

With no further agenda items, the meeting adjourned at 8:25 pm.

TOWN OF MAHONE BAY TOWN OF MAHONE BAY

Chair, Mayor Suzanne Lohnes-Croft Deputy CAO, Eric J. Levy

2025_09_22_Meeting Minutes_Policy and Strategy Committee 2



	2025-09_25_DRAFT Meeting Minutes_Council_Regular_FINAL
	2025-09-25_Email_CUPW
	2025-09-09__Resolution Municipalities_EN.pdf
	WHEREAS it will be crucial for the mandate review to hear the views from municipalities on key issues, including maintaining Canada Post as a public service, the importance of maintaining the moratorium on post office closures, improving the Canadian ...
	THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that (name of municipality) formally writes the Minister of Government Transformation, Public Works and Procurement, Joël Lightbound, to demand that no mandate review takes place until Canada Post returns to stabilized operat...
	THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that (name of municipality) will include in its letter to Minister Lightbound that any review of Canada Post and the Canadian Postal Service Charter must be done through a full and thorough transparent public review of Canada...
	THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that (name of municipality) will make a written submission and/or participate in hearings to provide input in the upcoming mandate review of Canada Post.


	2025-10-06_Frampton_Edgewater Trail Landscaping
	2025-10-14_Staff Report to Council
	Staff Report - Hedge Row
	2025-10-14_Staff Report - Edgewater Multiuse Trail
	The LCSSP Monthly Report September 2025
	2025-10-14 Staff Report - Certified Specialist Salary Scale
	2025-10-07 Staff Report - Certified Specialist Salary Scale
	scales

	2025_09_22_Meeting Minutes_Policy and Strategy Committee



